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Throughout this Report, the terms “apprentices” and “apprenticeships” 
are used to refer to both apprentices and trainees, and apprenticeships 
and traineeships.

Front cover: carpentry apprentices at TAFESA, Tonsley.
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Mission

To facilitate and support the delivery 
and development of high quality, 
innovative training programs.

To support our industry workforce to 
adapt to change and develop their 
careers through information, incentives 
and advice.

To provide trusted information and 
advice gained by using our data, 
research and networks to support 
our industry and government decision 
making.

To support our industry by responsibly 
managing the Construction Industry 
Training Fund through sound 
governance and accountable 
administration. 

Pillars

Communication   

Leadership    

Agility    

Innovation   

Collaboration   

Inclusivity

Goals

• Lead innovative and high quality 
training in the construction and 
building industry:

• Revitalise training policy and 
program delivery.

• Develop research and training 
program development capacity.

• Develop use of new technologies 
in program delivery.

• Meet high standard of quality 
assurance for training program 
delivery.

• Effectively influence through 
key partnerships with industry, 
government and the training 
sector:

• Undertake workforce planning for 
our industry.

• Build partnerships and alliances 
across the training and education 
sectors.

• Provide policy advice to industry 
and government.

• Expand the CITB brand and profile 
as a trusted source of industry 
expertise:

• Undertake communication and 
engagement activities across the 
industry, government, training and 
education sectors.

• To ensure effective governance 
and administration of the Fund:

• Meet compliance and risk 
requirements.

• Maximise the benefits to our 
industry through effective use of 
our funds and resources.

• Manage overheads efficiently.

• Empower staff to work confidently 
and effectively to realise all 
functions of our Act.

Functions

The Construction Industry Training 
Board was established under the 
Construction Industry Training Fund Act 
1993 to administer the fund and to  
co-ordinate appropriate training.

The Functions of the Board are:

• Principal adviser to State and 
Federal ministers on any matter 
relating to training in the building 
and construction industry

• Administer the Construction 
Industry Training Fund

• Prepare training plans in 
accordance with the Act

• Generally coordinate training and 
personnel development within the 
industry

• Promote increased productivity, 
career opportunities, personal 
satisfaction and occupational 
health and safety within the 
industry

• Review and evaluate employment-
related training programs to ensure 
training and skill requirements are 
met

• Ensure a more equitable 
distribution of effort amongst 
employers in relation to 
employment-related training

• Initiate, carry out, support or 
promote research into training and 
personnel needs

• Liaise with educational, 
professional and training bodies in 
all sectors regarding training and 
personnel development within the 
building and construction industry

• Promote, undertake, support 
programs designed to facilitate 
the international exchange of 
information relevant to training or 
personnel development 
 
 

Our Business
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The Levy  
We collect a levy of 0.25% on the value of construction projects in South Australia with a value of $40,000 or more.

The levy is received from the housing, commercial and civil construction sectors. We redistribute it back to the sectors 
in the form of programs targeting: subsidised training; funding for apprenticeships; career pathways; and workforce 
development. 

The Levy Benefits SA’s Construction Industry 
Our grants and subsidies make skills training more affordable and accessible, and help South Australia’s construction 
industry meet its demand for skilled workers now and into the future. 

Other elements of our funding program focus on increasing the skills level in the construction industry workforce through 
education and training and on promoting, within schools, careers in the construction industry.

Chart 1: SA Construction Industry Output, Levies Collected and Training Activity 1994-2020 and 
Projected for 2021
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7 October 2020

Hon. David Pisoni MP 
Minister for Innovation and Skills 
GPO Box 11071 
ADELAIDE SA 5001

Dear Minister

I am pleased to present the Construction Industry Training Board (CITB) Annual Report for 2019-20.

As is set out in the Report, industry indicators were trending downwards during the year, albeit from 
historically high levels, and the situation was exacerbated in March 2020 with the onset of COVID-19. 
This was reflected in the reduced amount of construction work done in the year. For CITB, in the months 
immediately following March, the virus resulted in reduced number of apprentices registering with our 
scheme and reduced attendance at training courses we support. These numbers, though, recovered in 
June and the recovery has continued into the opening months of 2020-21. COVID-19 has not greatly 
affected our levy revenues. 

Overall, our levy revenues for 2019-20 were $20.24m a reduction of $808k from the previous year’s 
amount of $21.05m. The year’s actual levy revenues were nevertheless $380k greater than budget and so 
the reduction in levies received was not as great as we expected. 

CITB spent $17.07m on its funding programs in 2019-20, including $11.49m on Apprentice Support and 
$4.23m on Construction Skills Training. We launched the Additional Apprentice Incentive program during 
the year, supporting the State Government’s Skilling South Australia policy. We spent $632.5k on the 
program and it resulted in funding an extra 280 apprenticeships. Overall, a record 5,823 apprentices were 
supported by CITB during the year, 6% more than last year. Similarly, a record 1,227 secondary students 
participated in our doorways2construction® program, 11% more than in 2018-19

The overall surplus for the year was $844k which compares with $490k in 2018-19.

We undertook research in apprenticeship completion rates for the 22,226 apprentices who have started 
a qualification supported by CITB since we were established in 1993. Amongst many other things, the 
research demonstrated that overall completion rates for construction industry apprentices was 75%. This 
is higher than for other trades, partly because of financial support provided to their employers, including 
support provided by CITB. The research was presented at the National Centre for Vocational Education 
Research annual conference.

Yours Sincerely

Maree Wauchope 
Presiding Member
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“In the year ahead I look forward to working with the Board 
and CEO implementing our revised strategic direction.  
In addition, we will collaborate with government and 
industry to help businesses improve their workforce 
capability.”
Maree Wauchope 
Presiding Member

Presiding Member Report

I was pleased to accept the role of Presiding Member with the 
Board of CITB commencing on June 18 2020.

On behalf of the Board I extend thanks to former Presiding 
Member Peter Kennedy for his leadership of CITB from June 
2019 until June 2020. I would also like to thank the outgoing 
Board members for their hard work and dedication to the 
organisation.

In June 2020, we welcomed 5 new members: Stephen 
Knight, Amanda Price-McGregor, Phil Sutherland, Patrick 
Curran and Aaron Cartledge, in addition to myself. 

The first meeting of the new Board was on 23 July and I have 
been pleased with the progress we have made refining our 
strategy, agreeing what we want CITB to be known for, and 
setting goals for the Board to achieve over its two year tenure.

The Board has initiated a process to appoint a permanent 
CEO, and our plan is to have the new incumbent in place by 
the start of 2021.

My early impressions are that the Board in 2019-20 
responded flexibly to government and industry with support 
for apprenticeships. Through defining critical areas of need 
with these stakeholders, the Board introduced the Additional 
Apprenticeship Incentives to help employers with upfront 
costs for hiring apprentices. This resulted in 280 extra places, 
contributing to a record number of 5,839 CITB-supported 
apprenticeships, up from 5,480 in 2018-19. 

As the industry navigates the effects of COVID-19, the Board 
is paying close attention to communicating with employers, 
Registered Training Organisations and Group Training 
Organisations through our Sector Committees in response to 
changes in training and apprenticeship environments. 

The Board is also raising awareness about the levy with 
government agencies and local councils to improve processes 
and compliance. Since my appointment, the Board and 
management have undertaken an assessment of current 
systems and identified areas for future development. 

This report provides an annual review of the operations 
of CITB in delivering the 2019-20 Annual Training Plan. I 
thank our stakeholders from our Sector Committees for 
their input contributing to the development of the 2020-21 
Annual Training Plan and for their continuing commitment to 
improving training outcomes for the industry.

In the year ahead I look forward to working with the Board 
and the CEO implementing our revised strategic direction. In 
addition, we will collaborate with government and industry to 
help businesses improve their workforce capability. 

Maree Wauchope 
Presiding Member



“Over 22,000 apprentices have started a construction 
qualification supported by CITB since we were 
established in 1993. In addition, we funded a record 5,823 
apprenticeships in 2019-20.” 
 
Derek Clark 
Interim CEO

Interim CEO Report

I joined CITB as Interim CEO in late April and I have enjoyed 
learning about the valuable work CITB has done, and is still 
doing.

Economic Backdrop and COVID-19

As with so many businesses in South Australia, and around 
the world, 2019-20 has posed unusual challenges for CITB. 
In the opening months of the year, industry indicators in SA 
were tracking down, albeit from historically high levels. The 
situation was exacerbated in March this year with the onset of 
COVID-19; construction work done in the June 2020 quarter 
was 6.5 % below the corresponding amount in the June 2019 
quarter.

The key impacts of the virus on CITB have been with respect 
to attendance at Construction Skills Training short courses 
and apprentices newly registering with CITB. Attendance at 
the courses fell during April and May but started to recover in 
June and the recovery has continued into the opening months 
of 2020-21. Similarly, the number of apprentices registering 
with CITB fell markedly in April but the numbers have 
increased steadily in subsequent months.  

Our levy revenues held up well in the closing months of  
2019-20 and the flow of revenues in the first two months of 
2020-21 was strong

At the time of writing, the evidence we see is that the stimulus 
measures for the construction sector put in place by state and 
Federal governments have so far been effective. 

Our 2020-21 Annual Training Plan includes $1m set aside 
for our Additional Apprentice Incentives program. At the time 
of adopting the Plan, however, the Board noted that the 
amount might need to be reallocated to other training areas in 
response to the consequences of COVID-19. 

To date COVID-19 has not resulted in a serious downturn and 
so the Board is now evaluating how to allocate these funds 
under the Additional Incentives Training program, and do so 
by 30 June 2021.

Operational Overview

Over 22,000 apprentices have started a construction 
qualification supported by CITB since we were established in 
1993. In addition, we funded a record 5,823 apprenticeships 
in 2019-20.

We have seen growth in participation numbers across 
many of our programs including a record number of 1,227 
secondary students undertaking career pathways training in 
doorways2construction® and a 13% increase in apprentices 
participating in our Aboriginal Workforce Development 
Initiative. 

We supported an extra 280 apprenticeships in 2019-20 after 
introducing the Additional Apprentice Incentives program. We 
will continue this program in 2020-21.

During the year we surveyed attendees for non-accredited 
training courses. 92% of those surveyed reported that they 
had experienced positive learning outcomes. We will again 
survey attendees on our accredited courses in 2020-21.

Finance

Our levy revenues in 2019-20 were $20.24m down 4% from 
$21.05m last year. 

The 2019-20 surplus was $844k which compares to a surplus 
of $490k in the previous year.

At 30 June 2020 CITB was debt-free and held $1.8m in cash 
and $22.87 in investments, a strong position.

Regulatory Review

The Regulations under the CITF Act are to be reviewed 
in 2021 and the project will be led by the Department for 
Innovation and Skills (DIS). We have identified a number of 
aspects which, if amended, would help CITB to function 
more effectively and to better achieve our objectives.  We are 
underway consulting with DIS on these regulatory changes. 
Some of the changes, if implemented, would help to increase 
the volumes of levies we collect. 
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TALAS

A project to re-platform our Training and Levy and 
Administration System (TALAS) will increase efficiency by 
reducing the multiple entry of data by training providers, by 
Project Owners when paying levies, and by our own staff at 
CITB. It will make it easier for people to ‘do business’ with 
CITB.

Research

We undertook a major analysis of apprenticeship completion 
rates in 2019-20. It compared completion outcomes by 
age group, by qualification, and by type  of employee, ie 
distinguishing direct indentured apprentices from those with 
Group Training Organisations. Amongst many other things, 
the analysis concluded that the overall completion rates for 
construction apprentices was 75%. This is higher than for 
other industries, partly because of the significant financial 
support provided to their employers, including support 
provided by CITB. 

In July 2020 the findings from the analysis were presented at 
the annual conference of the National Centre for Vocational 
Education Research 

Acknowledgements

I have enjoyed working with the new Board to formulate its 
strategy. I look forward to implementing that strategy over my 
remaining time at CITB.

I acknowledge the good work of CITB’s staff. They are 
dedicated to the cause of growing the South Australia’s 
construction industry.

Derek Clark 
Interim CEO

Interim CEO Report continued ...
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Our Members

Maree Wauchope 
Presiding Member

Building and Construction Industry Representatives

Stephen Knight 
Regional Executive Director 
- SA, Housing Industry 
Association 
Deputy: Neil Mossop

Ruth Vagnarelli 
Design Director, Hickinbotham 
Group 
Deputy: Katherine Anderson

Patrick Curran 
Principal, Curran Risk 
Management 
Deputy: Brenton Pike

Nicholas Handley 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Handley Accounting and 
Advisory 
Deputy: Mardi Conduit

Daniel Gannon 
Executive Director SA, 
Property Council of Australia 
Deputy: Kym Burke

Amanda Price-McGregor 
Managing Director, Green 
Light Planning Solutions 

Deputy: Claudi Goldsmith

Phillip Sutherland 
CCF SA Chief Executive 
Officer, Civil Contractors 
Federation SA 
Deputy: Victoria Griffith

Anthony Carbone 
General Manager, Sarah 
Constructions 
Deputy: Paul Williams

Ian Markos 
Chief Executive Officer, Master 
Builders Association of SA 
Deputy: Andrew Clarke

Independent Representatives

Employer Representative Employee Representative

Aaron Cartledge 
Construction industry consultant 
Deputy: Carla Mellor

Ministerial 

On 18 June 2020, the Minister for Innovation and Skills  
gazetted the people below as members of our Board.  
This Board held its first meeting on 23 July 2020.

A full list of Board members who served at any time during 
2019-20 is on page 23.
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Economic Backdrop

Last year’s Annual Report noted that industry indicators for the year ahead were trending downwards from historically high 
levels. This downturn was exacerbated in March 2020 by the impact of COVID-19. Like other sectors, the construction 
industry has experienced significant challenges in South Australia as a result of the pandemic. In the June quarter of 2020, 
construction work done fell by 6.5% when compared to the equivalent quarter in 2019 (see table below). Other indicators such 
as construction employment point to a further weakening of activity. 

In all cases, the data below represents the latest available at the time of writing.

South Australia

Total
Month of  
July 2020

Compared to month 
of June 2020

Compared to   
month of July 2019

Total Dwelling approvals 792 -10.5% -32.3%

• Private houses 639 -1.8% 4.4%

• Private ‘other’ dwellings 135 -24.6% -74.3%

March 2020 
quarter

Compared to  
December 2019 

quarter

Compared to  
March 2019 quarter

Total Dwelling commencements (March quarter 2020) 2,845 -1.2% 16.7%

June 2020 quarter
Compared to March 

2020 quarter
Compared to  

June 2019 quarter

Total Construction work done (June quarter) $2.9b -2.7% -6.5%

• Residential $0.9b -4.2% 5.6%

• Non-Residential $0.6b -15.4% -12.1%

• Engineering $1.4b 4.5% -10.4%

March 2020 
quarter

Compared to 
December 2019 

quarter

Compared to  
March 2019 quarter

Total Construction work in the pipeline (March quarter 
2020)

$6.6b 4.3% -1.7%

• Residential $2.8b -0.5% -1.0%

• Non-Residential $2.3b -11.0% -9.2%

• Engineering $1.6b 53.2% 9.4%

Year ended 31 
August 2020

Compared to year 
ended 31 August 2019

Average employment in the construction sector based on 
quarterly data      

68,104 na -8.8%

The outlook for 2020-21 for the sector in South Australia largely depends on the spread of COVID-19 and its impact. The 
South Australian and Australian Government have put in place a variety of stimulus measures to support the sector, such as the 
HomeBuilder program, extra financial incentives to employers to retain apprentices and the bringing forward of infrastructure 
spending. 

While COVID-19 restrictions remain in place, population growth and employment security – two major drivers of residential 
construction activity – will remain constrained. 

Source: ABS various indicators
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2019-20 Annual Training Plan

The Minister for Innovation and Skills approved a preliminary 2019-20 Annual Training Plan (ATP) on 20 June 2019 
on the condition that the new Board review it and make recommendations. Consequently, the Minister approved 
a revised ATP on 20 August 2019. The ATP set out the financial support that we planned to provide to the South 
Australian construction industry. The following pages compare actual outcomes to those planned in the ATP. 
Copies of the 2019-20 and 2020-21 ATPs can be accessed by visiting citb.org.au/about/publications.

$11.49m 
Spent by CITB on funding our Apprentice Support programs

5,823A record

$4.23m 
Spent on subsidising short courses through our Construction Skills Training program

13,008
Individuals undertook subsidised short courses through the Construction Skills 
Training program

$1.27m 
Spent on funding for Industry Access Initiatives programs to support at risk groups

$632,500 

Spent on Additional Apprentice Incentives to boost apprenticeship numbers. This was 
a new program introduced to support the State Government’s Skilling SA policy. It 
achieved an uptake of an additional 280 apprenticeships.

®

1,227
secondary students participated in our doorways2construction® career 
pathway program.

2019-20 Key Outcomes

apprenticeships were supported by CITB

A record



CITB Annual Report 2019-20   |   10 

Chart 2: Levy collection by sector 
2019-20 

Chart 3: Training expenditure by 
sector 2019-20 

ATP Actual Outcome

Programs
Planned in 2019-20 

($)
2019-20 Actual  

($)

Apprentice Support:

• Trade School Support payments 2,203,077 1,350,070

• On-Job Support payments 11,065,128 9,221,122

• 9% Group Training Organisation Completion Bonus 325,501 290,280

• Additional Apprentice Incentives 1,117,500 632,500

Total Apprenticeship Support (page 11) 14,711,206 11,493,972

Construction Skills Training 

Total Construction Skills Training (page 13) 4,649,512 4,231,566

Innovation Programs:

• tradie2trainer 40,000 36,969

• Building Information Modelling Build SA / BIMSA 30,000 29,600

• Basic English and Numeracy 40,000 8,842

• Other innovation projects 25,000 1,400

Total Innovation programs (page 17) 135,000 76,811

Industry Access Initiatives programs:

• Aboriginal Workforce Development Initiative (page 19) 189,620 157,991

• Targeted Adult Apprenticeship Initiative (page 19) 250,000 256,279

• doorways2construction® (page 20) 873,477 855,757

Total Industry Access Initiatives programs 1,313,097 1,270,027

Total Programs 20,808,815 17,072,376

CITB Programs: Planned in the ATP vs actual

Charts 2 and 3 illustrate the 
relative proportions of levies 
collected and training expenditure 
across each of the three industry 
sectors.

Under the CITF Act, levies 
received from each sector are 
to be  redistributed back to the 
sectors in the same proportions 
as they are received.

The charts demonstrate over the 
5 year average the funds we have 
distributed are broadly in line with 
levies collected.
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Apprentice Support

In 2019-20, we spent $11.49m 
supporting apprenticeships. This 
funding recognises the long-term 
commitment of employers and 
Registered Training Organisations to 
train and mentor our future workforce. 

Across the Apprentice Support program 
we funded 5,823 apprenticeships, 
representing an increase of 6.3% 
compared to the 5,480 in 2018-19

We supported the State Government’s 
Skilling South Australia policy by 
introducing the Additional Apprentice 
Incentives Program that achieved an 
uptake of a further 280 apprenticeships. 

The following Apprentice Support 
programs have been endorsed by the 
Board after feedback from our Sector 
Committees:

• On-Job Support payments

• Tuition support 

• Additional Apprenticeship Incentive

• 9% GTO Completion Bonus

• Targeted Adult Apprentice Initiative 
(see page 19)

• Aboriginal Workforce Development 
Initiative (see page 19) 

On-Job Support payments
We provide these payments to 
employers for their contribution to 
time spent training apprentices. The 
On-Job Support payment is unique 
among training funds in Australia as it 
is evidence-based: the employer has 
to verify that on-job training occurred. 
The annual payment for employers of 
apprentices undertaking fully-funded 
qualifications is $2,500 per apprentice 
with partially funded qualifications 
attracting $1,250. For a list of the 
qualifications we fund, see the Appendix 
on page 59. 

Trade School Support funding 
Trade School Support funding offers an 
upfront discount on the cost of fees to 
help make training more affordable for 
employers of apprentices. Payment is 
made to the trade school (Registered 
Training Organisation) twice yearly with 
funding capped at $1,200 over the term 
of the apprenticeship. 

9% Group Training Organisation 
Completion Bonus
The 9% completion bonus for Group 
Training Organisations (GTOs) is 
an additional funding measure that 
supports the commitment to achieving 
apprenticeship outcomes for the 
industry. 

GTOs receive the bonus because they:

• Comply with the 2017 National 
Standards for Group Training

• Promote the virtues of the 
apprenticeship system to 
employers who hire apprentices 
under a host arrangement.

• Help employers throughout the 
apprenticeship.

• Contribute to the workplace health, 
safety and welfare of apprentices 
on a consultation basis with state 
government.

 

 

Our Programs

$14.71m
Funding allocated for  
apprentice support

5,927
Allocated apprentice  
support places

$11.49m
Spent on apprentice support

5,823
Apprentices  
supported

11   |    CITB Annual Report 2019-20
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Additional Apprentice Incentives
The Additional Apprentice Incentives 
Program aims to create additional 
apprenticeships in line with the State 
Government’s Skilling South Australia 
policy. During 2019-20, $1m was 
allocated to provide support funding 
for an extra 447 apprentice training 
places. As a result, 280 additional 
apprenticeships were funded during the 
9-month offer period. 

The incentives comprised the following 
5 funding streams.

Funding Stream
Amount 
Funded 

($)

1. In Demand   
Qualification

2,500

Equity Group:

2. New Employer 500*

3. Regional 500

4. Long term 
unemployed

500

5. Female 500

*As of 1 March 2020, new employers 
taking on apprentices undertaking 
qualifications in Carpentry, Carpentry 
and Joinery, Electrical and Plumbing 
also received $2,500.

Chart 4: Apprentice places for On-Job Support 
payments

Chart 5: Funded amounts for CITB Trade 
School Support and On-Job Support ($M)

Chart 6: Apprentices by region of residence
Apprentice by Region

Metropolitan 
69%

Regional 
31%

CITB-FUNDED APPRENTICE PLACES

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

3078 3236 3629 3929 4035

1585 1487 1458 1551 1788

P
la

ce
s

GTO Direct Indenture

4663 4723
5087

5480
5823

Additional Incentive Completion On Job 9% GTO Incentive Tuition

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

1.35

9.22

2.04

9.83

1.52

9.61

0.89

7.37

0.76

6.35

On-Job Support payments

Trade School Support funding

$M

7.11

8.36

11.39
12.15

11.49

0.10

0.26 0.28 0.29

0.63

Additional Apprentice Incentives

9% Group Training Organisation Completion Bonus
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CITB-funded apprentice places 
represent the total number of 
apprentices (GTO and direct 
indentured), whose employer 
received On-Job Support 
funding.

Apprentice funding shows the 
funding streams:

1. On Job Support payments 
— CITB pays the employer 
to help cover the costs of 
training the apprentice  
on-the-job.

2. Trade School Support funding 
— we pay a portion of the 
apprentice’s trade school 
fees.

3. Additional Apprentice 
Incentives — CITB pays 
employers an incentive to hire 
apprentices.

4. 9% Group Training 
Organisation Completion 
Bonus —we pay these 
organisations for providing 
training and apprenticeship 
outcomes to industry.
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Construction
Skills Training

Construction Skills Training targets 
workforce training and development in 
the following areas:

• Skill currency

• Industry trends

• Compliance with codes and 
regulations

• Upskilling and cross skilling to 
support career progression

Short courses that attract training fee 
subsidies are identified by our Sector 
Committees and later made available to 
the eligible workforce. 

We define the eligible workforce based 
on how much work the employer 
of a worker conducts in relevant 
construction industry sectors. This 
ensures employers who pay the levy 
benefit from the Fund. 

During 2019-20, we processed 20,213 
claims for the delivery of subsidised 
training to 13,008 individuals. Some 
of them participated in more than one 
course. 22% of these claims were for 
short courses delivered in regional 
South Australia (more than 100 
kilometres outside the Adelaide CBD). 
 

A funding allocation of $4.65m, down 
from the 2018-19 allocation of $5.12m, 
represents a redirection in funding that 
contributed to the newly introduced 
Additional Apprentice Incentives 
Program (see page 12).

As a result of the reduced budget, 
and to ensure that maximum 
training places were maintained, we 
implemented a priority rating system for 
all short courses. Those short courses 
considered high priority to the industry 
remained unchanged while those 
identified as being a lesser priority had 
their subsidy reduced accordingly (see 
Chart 8). 

In April and May 2020, there was a 
downturn in the total number of claims 
for training places. This decrease was 
consistent with the onset of COVID-19. 

During June 2020, the training 
industry began to regain confidence in 
conducting face-to-face training and 
training places began to increase. They 
remained however, lower than the 5–
year average.

 

 

Quality Assurance
We apply our Quality Assurance 
Framework before endorsing training 
providers, and endorsing accredited 
and non-accredited short courses. 
Currently 36% of short courses are 
non-accredited (see Chart 9). 

The occupations undertaking the most 
non-accredited training are:

1. Admin/Project manager/
Supervisor 

2.  Carpenter

3.  Plumber

Our Programs

$4.65m
Funding allocated for training 
fee subsidies for short courses

20,213
Claims processed for subsidised 
training (some indivciduals participated 
in more than one course)

$4.23m
Spent on training fee subsidies 
for short courses 

13,008
Individuals undertook 
subsidised training 

ATP Inputs Actual Outcomes



Chart 8: Short course training places compared to individuals trained  
(last 5 years) 
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Chart 7: Short course training places and expenditure (%) 2019-20

$ Places

Business 
Management

Construction 
Management

Construction  
Skills

Other

Work Health & 
Safety

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Expenditure (%) Training places taken up (%) 

CITB Annual Report 2019-20   |   14 

2015-16

The proportion of allocated training places compared to individuals trained has remained 
consistent since 2015-16. 

An increase in training places during 2018-19 reflects the larger construction projects underway, 
including the Northern Connector and Darlington Upgrade.

These training places can be thought of as seats in a classroom or online.

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Individuals TrainedTraining Places

 
While training places between the various categories of training are dominated by Work Health and 
Safety courses, expenditure reflects a different pattern. This is because Work Health and Safety 
courses tend to be of shorter duration and with larger class sizes than Construction skills and 
Management courses.

The range of short courses offered by CITB is determined after consultation with our Sector 
Committees.
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Chart 9: Accredited vs  
Non-Accredited short courses 
2019-20

Construction Skills Training continued ...

Accredited 
64%

Non-accredited 
36%

Chart 10: Training places for 
Accredited vs Non-Accredited short 
courses 2019-20

 

 

Chart 11: Rating of knowledge of subject before and after 
training
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We surveyed 187 attendees across all our non-accredited short courses. 92% told us 
that they had gained additional knowledge as a result of the training. Surveys about 
our accredited courses are undertaken every 2 years as part of our research and 
consultation strategy.
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Innovation

The tradie2trainer program upskills 
individuals to become qualified trainers. 
This enables them to pass on their 
knowledge and skills for the benefit 
of the industry and future workforce. 
Registered Training Organisations 
also benefit as the supply of qualified 
construction trainers increases.

The program received over 180 
applications and from these 21 were 
selected after a comprehensive 
screening process. 

The tradie2trainer program consists of:

• TAE40116 Certificate IV in Training 
and Assessment 

• Recognition of Prior Learning in the 
relevant vocational area

• Basic training in Word, Excel, 
PowerPoint and Outlook

• A two-week work placement with a 
training provider

Building Information Modelling 
(BIM) – BuildSA / BIMSA
In partnership with Build-SA, the BIM-
SA group hosted events throughout the 
year. BIM-SA supports the development 
of BIM policy and standards across 
the built environment and BIM-SA also 
upskills industry on the application of 
these standards.

With an audience of 300 predicted 
over 6 events, the total audience 
numbers exceeded 400 across only 4 
events. 2 events were cancelled due to 
COVID-19. Of these attendees, 66% 
were eligible for CITB support.

Topics covered during the year 
included:

• Setting up a BIM business during 
COVID-19 and the New Normal 

• 3D Printing from construction to 
manufacturing

• 3D parametrics

• BIM from the QS perspective: What 
makes a good job and what makes 
a bad one?

• How to BIM your organisation. 
Strategically Planning the Education 
and Skills of Your Staff Regarding 
BIM Process and Technology

• Case Study: Pembroke Middle 
School Redevelopment.

• A Presentation from NEARMAP

Guest speakers included:

• Andrew Curthoys, Director 
Innovation & Engagement, 
Department of State Development, 
Manufacturing, Infrastructure and 
Planning, Queensland Government  

• Glenn Jowett, Senior Associate 
BIM Delivery Lead, Beca (New 
Zealand)

• Will Hackney, Global Digital Leader 
/ Infrastructure, Aurecon Group 
(Melbourne)

• Sam Harley, Aurecon

• Estaben Valdebenito, Oracle 
Aconex, Melbourne 

• Laura Heywood, Woods Bagot 
 
 

Programs

$135k
Funding allocated for innovation programs

$76.8k
Spent on innovation programs

ATP Inputs Actual Outcomes

BIM Attendee Job 
Roles

%

Architect 29%

Engineer 22%

Head Contractor 14%

Other 12%

Sub Contractor 6%

Surveyor 4%

Educator/Trainer 4%

Software Provider 3%

Manufacturer/
Supplier

2%

Owner/Operator/FM 2%

Industry Association 1%

Quantity Surveyor 1%
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Basic English and Numeracy 
The Basic English and Numeracy 
(BEaN) program is aimed at individuals 
with English as a second language. In 
2019-20, the program comprised of 2 
parts — recruitment and, if successfully 
recruited, the training component. 
The program’s start was delayed due 
to COVID-19, and an extension was 
granted for the recruitment phase.

Try a Trade for school students in 
Years 8-10.
During 2019-20, we planned the 
production of a short video capturing 
stories and images of tradespeople 
and worksite scenarios. It will be used 
by staff and career coordinators as a 
construction resource for schools across 
the state. 

Research for, and development of, 
the video included consultation with 
several schools to gauge the career 
resources currently offered to students. 
Media produced by our competitor 
industries, such as defence, mining, 
and the university sector, contains high 
quality production values that capture 
the attention of students. To compete 
with these industries, we engaged an 
external marketing agency to produce 
the video. 
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Industry Access 
Initiatives

Aboriginal Workforce 
Development Initiative 
The Aboriginal Workforce Development 
Initiative (AWDI) helps apprentices to 
complete their training and partcipate in 
the workforce.

During 2019-20, 1.8% (or 650) of all our 
supported apprentices were Aboriginal, 
up slightly from 1.7% in 2018-19. 

60 of these apprentices were supported 
through the AWDI program as of 30 
June 2020. This represents an increase 
of 13% from the 53 AWDI participants as 
of 30 June 2019.

5 out of the 11 apprentices who have 
completed the program since it was 
established, did so during 2019-20. 
The other 6 apprentices completed the 
program in earlier years. 

Targeted Adult Apprenticeship 
Initiative
In 2019-20, the Targeted Adult 
Apprenticeship Initiative continued to 
provide incentives to employers to 
encourage the uptake of apprentices 
aged 21 and over. 

20 places were made available to 11 of 
our approved GTOs. This is consistent 
with the initial intake of 20 places in 
2018-19. 

The current cohort of apprentices are all 
continuing with their training. 

Programs

$439.6k
Funding allocated for programs targeting 
at risk groups

$414.3k
Funding spent on programs for  
at risk groups

ATP Inputs Actual Outcomes

Qualification
Number of adult 

apprentices
Age

Air Conditioning & 
Refrigeration 1 24

Civil Construction 4 21,21,24,29

Carpentry 5 25, 29, 30, 34, 38

Plumbing 6 22, 24, 24, 24, 33, 35

Electrical 2 23, 24

Wall & Ceiling Linings 2 22,23

Total 20

2019-20 Targeted Adult Apprenticeship Initiative: qualifications and ages of adult 
apprentices
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Programs

$873.5k
Funding allocated for  
construction career pathways

$855.8k
Funding spent on  
construction career pathways

65
Female participants

ATP Inputs Actual Outcomes               Student Participation Outcomes

214
Students undertook  
D2C plus

1,227
Total students participated 

53
Aboriginal participants

The doorways2construction® program 
is South Australia’s flagship VET 
in schools program. It provides a 
construction pathway for secondary 
school students, SACE completion, 
and Flexible Industry Pathway 
apprenticeships.

The Program has two parts:

• D2C: Year 11 students undertake 
training at a Certificate I or II level.

• D2C plus: Provides a pathway into 
a partial Certificate III.

We administer the program in 
partnership with the following:

• Department for Education

• Catholic Education South Australia

• Association of Independent Schools 
of South Australia

• Department for Innovation and 
Skills

• Housing SA

Achievements in 2019-20
• We expanded Certificate II in 

Electrotechnology (career start), to 
cater for students pursuing a career 
in electrical.

• We started a pilot house renovation 
project for Southern Adelaide 
Schools in term one of the 2020 
school year. The project is made 
possible through collaboration with 
Housing SA.

• We introduced students to Try a 
Trade events, in trades with low 
uptakes The events were held in 
metropolitan and regional areas.

• We held professional development 
events for D2C teachers and VET 
coordinators and they provided 
a forum to network and update 
stakeholders. Hands-on industry 
currency workshops provided 
teachers with training in steel frame 
construction and plasterboard fixing 
and flushing.

Chart 12: doorways2construction® 
Enrolments (last 5 years)
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Research and consultation

Analysis of Apprenticeship 
Completions
We undertook major analysis of 
apprenticeship completion rates 
in 2019-20. The findings were 
presented at the National Centre for 
Vocational Education Research Annual 
Conference in July 2020. In order to 
prepare the analysis, we tracked the 
completion outcomes of the 22,226 
apprentices who have commenced 
a CITB-supported construction 
qualification since the Fund was 
established in 1993. We did this 
tracking by using our TALAS database.

The analysis compared completion 
outcomes by age group, by 
qualification and by type of employer 
(direct indenture or Group Training 
Organisation). Overall, completion rates 
exceeded 75% but varied by time 
period and by qualification. The main 
findings were that:

•  Completion rates are generally 
higher for people under 21 than 
those 21 and over.

•  In the licensed trades, across 
all time periods, under 21s have 
higher completion rates, and 
the completion rates deteriorate 
the older the apprentice is at 
commencement.

•  Apprentices aged 21 and over have 
higher completion outcomes with 
GTOs than with direct indenture 
employers.

Apprentices we support have relatively 
high completion rates compared to 
other industries because:

•  Significant financial support for 
employers is provided throughout 
the period of the apprenticeship.

•  CITB Field Officer support for 
employer and apprentice, means 
there is a visible ‘go to’ person.

•  Apprentices in the licensed trades 
(electrical and plumbing) have 
greater incentive to complete. 

Other Research
We are currently surveying direct 
indenture employers who claim our 
financial support for apprentices. We 
want to gauge satisfaction with the 

apprenticeship process including        
sign up, trade school, funding and 
apprentice performance. So far, the 
majority of employers have stated 
they are happy or very happy with the 
process.

We are also surveying AWDI employers 
and participants on a regular basis 
about the AWDI program. Overall, 
employers and their apprentices are 
happy or very happy with the program.    

Consultation
We have engaged with key stakeholders 
over the course of the year. The 
principal channels are detailed below 

1.  Liaison with the Department 
for Innovation and Skills (DIS) and 
Department for Education through:

• A Memorandum of Understanding, 
and regular meetings, with DIS 
on research, industry issues and 
collaboration.

•  Engagement with Traineeship and 
Apprenticeship Services in DIS for 
apprenticeship and traineeship 
information.

•  doorways2construction® 
consultation with DIS, Department 
for Education, Catholic Education, 
Independent Schools and the 
SACE Board.

• Membership of the Training and 
Skills Commission.

•  Membership of the Construction, 
Mining and Energy Industry Skills 
Council.

• Provision of feedback on training 
packages to the State Training 
Authority.

2. Other Government and Related 
Stakeholders 

• In 2019-20, we engaged with 
the Australian Government and 
other stakeholders through our 
membership of the Construction, 
Plumbing and Services Industry 
Reference Committee, Technical 
Advisory Groups, and as a 
member of the Australian Forum 
of Construction Industry Training 
Funds (AFCITF).

• Australian Skills Quality Authority 
and Service Skills Organisations.

• SafeWork SA and the Department 
of Planning, Transport and 
Infrastructure.

Industry Stakeholders
We hosted a Registered Training 
Organisations and Group Training 
Organisations Forum in 2019-20 to 
capture industry feedback on issues 
related to the administration and 
utlisation of the Construction Industry 
Training Fund.

Field Officer Engagement
In 2019-20, our Field Officers undertook 
7 regional visits (more than 100 
kilometres from Adelaide). They made 
2,257 visits to employers/apprentices 
and 171 Aboriginal Workforce 
Development Initiative visits. This 
compares to 2018-19, with 8 regional 
visits, 2,496 visits to employers/
apprentices and 181 Aboriginal 
Workforce Development Initiative visits.

Other Engagement Activities
We also attended industry presentations 
and trade days.
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Finance, Administration and Compliance

Page 8 demonstrates that 2019-20 has been a difficult year 
for the industry with construction work done down 6.5% in the 
June 2020 quarter compared to the corresponding quarter in 
2019. This is reflected in the levy revenues received in 2019-
20 of $20.24m a reduction of $808k, or 3.8%, on the amount 
received in 2018-19. The reductions were experienced across 
each of our three sectors, ie housing, commercial and civil.

The 2019-20 budget planned for levy decreases across all 
three sectors but the actual outcome was $380k, or 1.9%, 
higher than budget; ie the actual downturn in levy revenues 
was not as marked as we expected. 

The number of projects for which we received a levy in 2019-
20 was down by 57 projects (0.4%), 15,018 compared to 
15,075 in 2018-19.

Apprentice payments including On-Job Support for employers 
and Trade School Support funding totalled $11.49m, whilst 
Construction Skills Training support was $4.23m. 

The overall surplus for 2019-20 was $844,000 compared 
to a surplus of $490,000 in 2018-19. Amounts held in term 
deposits in major banks (tier 1 and 2) increased by $357,206 
with interest earnt added to balances. 

During 2019-20 the Treasurer gave CITB in-principle approval 
to invest funds surplus to our immediate requirements with 
FundsSA. Before doing so, CITB needs to be proclaimed a 
Prescribed Public Authority and the proclamation is expected 
early in 2020-21 after which we expect the Treasurer to 
provide us with his final approval to invest

In April 2020, CITB implemented BPay as a payment option 
for Project Owners paying levies. This has seen considerable  
take-up with approximately 10% of payments in June 2020 
being made by BPay.  

During 2019-20, CITB was given approval to participate in 
the SA Government’s transactional banking arrangements 
with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. Benefits from 
the arrangements include reduced merchant fees for levy 
payments and increased interest income.

Service delivery costs (administrative cost over total 
expenditure) reduced from 8.5% in 2018-19 to 7.8% in 
2019-20 (reduction of $265.9k) reflecting continuing prudent 
management. This ensures our Fund is used for its principal 
purpose – supporting the training and skills development of 
individuals in the construction industry.

103 Levy audits were undertaken in 2019-20 compared to 
112 in 2018-19. Revised audit selection techniques were 
implemented and they will be refined in 2020-21. 

In July 2018, CITB offered local councils undertaking 25 
or more construction projects in a year that attract a CITF 
levy the ability to lodge a single combined payment at year 
end. Payments are to reflect actual final project values for all 
projects undertaken during the year. 9 local councils made 
use of this opportunity in 2019-20 and have reported that it is 
a considerable time saver.

Training and Levy Administration System (TALAS) 
During 2019-20 significant work was undertaken to improve 
CITB’s database for external users’ access and ease.  

The following major improvements were implemented in 
TALAS:

•  Generation of Trade School Support claims for valid 
apprentices which are sent to the employers for validation 
before sending to our Endorsed Training Provider for 
submission

•  Ability for Project Owners to pay levy amounts owing by 
BPay

•  Inclusion of Additional Apprentice Incentive payments as 
a claim type

•  Ability to see all endorsed training providers for applicable 
courses

•  Automatic dispatch of levy notice reminders and debtor 
statements.

During 2019-20 we evaluated TALAS and concluded that we 
need a replacement platform. Consequently, in September 
2020 we sought tenders from companies to implement the  
re-platforming and we expect to appoint the successful firm, 
and start the project, in the following month. 

We expect the project will take 12 to 18 months to complete. 
The re-platforming will allow CITB to interface with external 
stakeholders and their systems, thereby eliminating the 
multiple entry of data, reducing errors, and, generally, making 
it easier to do business with CITB. These stakeholders include 
apprentices, other construction workers, training organisations 
and the SA Government through its Planning Portal.

Levy Audits completed in 2019-20

Completed Complied Did not comply Refund paid
Levies 

collected

103 66 37 $17,078 $153,252
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Corporate Governance

Authorised Officers
Authorised officers are appointed in 
accordance with Section 33 of the 
Act. Former CEO Marie Paterson 
resigned in February 2020 with the 
role taken up by Interim CEO Derek 
Clark. 

Executive Manager Finance and 
Business Services, John Morgan, 
retained his appointment during the 
year. Former Compliance Officer Mark 
Williams left CITB in November 2019. 
CITB Compliance Business Analyst, 
Stephan Ziervogel, was added as an 
Authorised Officer during the year.

Contracted compliance auditors 
during the year were as follows:

• Corey McGowan and Jon 
Colquhoun, HLB Mann Judd 
(SA) Pty Ltd

•  Jim Gouskos, Pitcher Partners

•  Damien Pozza, Nexia Edwards 
Marshall.

CITB Sector Committees
These are formed as a statutory 
requirement (S 13 (2)) to inform 
training policy development and 
resource allocation.

Financial Compliance 
Reporting Requirements
CITB is not an agency or 
instrumentality of the Crown, it is 
nevertheless covered by some 
aspects of the Public Finance and 
Audit Act (1987) and Treasurer’s 
Instructions. 

Fraud
There were no incidents of fraud 
detected in 2019-20.

The Board’s Risk Management Plan 
has been reviewed and updated. It 
provides a framework for monitoring 
of potential fraud. 

A system of financial delegations and 
multiple counter-signatories applies 
to all financial transactions. Our 
management and staff collaborate 
closely with the Auditor-General’s 
staff to monitor and adjust policy 
settings.

Member Attendance Record

Attendee Board Meetings
Committee 
Meetings

Total Meetings

Peter Kennedy  
Presiding Member*

10 0 10

Anthony Carbone 10 7 17

Deputy Carly Zanini 0 0 0

Andrew Clarke 10 4 14

Deputy Carmel Siciliano 0 0 0

Laurel Dixon (resigned ) 0 0 0

Deputy Madeleine Frost 9 7 16

Daniel Gannon 9 4 13

Deputy Victoria Brown 0 0 0

Victoria Griffith 10 9 19

Deputy Phillip Sutherland 0 0 0

Nicholas Handley 10 7 17

Deputy Michael Jeffrey 0 0 0

Rebecca Hayes 10 6 16

Deputy Paul Williams 0 0 0

Ian Markos 8 3 11

Deputy Christine Stone 0 0 0

Jessica Rogers 8 3 11

Deputy Laura Sarich 0 0 0

Ruth Vagnarelli 9 9 18

Deputy Stephen Knight 1 0 1

*The Presiding Member attended additional meetings each month, including adhoc 
committees, Combined Sectors and working parties, meetings with Ministers and 
senior government officials along with regular meetings with the CEO.

Board Meetings
The CITB Board met on 10 occasions during 2019-20.

If a member is unavailable to attend a Board meeting they must advise the Presiding 
Member or the Chief Executive Officer as soon as possible and ensure their Deputy is 
informed and provided with an update on current Board matters. The Deputy Member 
must advise the Presiding Member as soon as possible if they cannot attend the 
meeting. 

Members also attended a Board Strategic Planning Session during 2019-20. 
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Contracts Exceeding $4M
CITB did not enter into any contracts in 
excess of $4m in 2019-20.

Consultants
Consulting services are used primarily 
to augment CITB’s research capabilities. 
Details of consulting services engaged 
are provided in the notes to the Financial 
Statements.

Staff Employment
CITB administers the Construction 
Industry Training Fund Act 1993. It is 
not an agency or instrumentality of the 
Crown. CITB staff members are not 
public servants and are instead employed 
under individual contracts or the terms of 
an entity-specific Enterprise Agreement 
(CITF Act S 18). 

The Enterprise Agreement is based on 
the South Australian Clerks’ Award and 
the National Employment Standards 
and Private Sector Clerks Award 
(Commonwealth). 

The CITB Enterprise Agreement was 
negotiated and approved in accordance 
with s.54 of the Fair Work Act 2009. The 
above arrangement does not include 
the D2C Program Manager who is a 
Department for Education employee 
seconded to CITB on terms established 
in a Memorandum of Understanding, on a 
cost-share basis.

Freedom of Information
A Freedom of Information (FOI) statement 
is available on the CITB website. There 
were no FOI requests lodged with CITB 
during 2019-20.

Board Remuneration
Board member remuneration is paid in 
accordance with DPC Circular 16 issued 
by the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet.

Financial Performance
The Auditor-General’s report on the 
Statutory 30 June 2020 Financial 
Statements is on page 28.

Delegation
The Board maintains a schedule of financial delegations that is reviewed each 
year. Other delegations may be made periodically against specific actions or 
activities on an as required basis 

Delegations of this nature made during the year are as follows: 

Conflicts of Interest

Date
Meeting 

no.
Item 
no.

Member/
Deputy

Description of 
declaraton

Result?

Was Member 
asked to leave 

meeting?

5/8/19 275 4.1.1
Stephen 
Knight

Declared conflict of 
interest in relation to 
apprentice growth 
initiative as GTO/RTO.

Member remained 
in the meeting with 
the consent of 
those present.

14/5/20 283 5.5
Victoria 
Griffith

Declared conflict of 
interest in relation 
to GTO completion 
payments.

Member remained 
in the meeting with 
the consent of 
those present.

14/5/20 283 5.5
Ian Markos 
Andrew 
Clarke

The Presiding Member 
suggested that Ian 
Markos and Andrew 
Clarke also had a 
conflict of interest 
at item 5.5 — GTO 
completion payments.

Members remained 
in the meeting with 
the consent of 
those present.

Date Delegation

26/9/19
The Board delegated Authority to negotiate leases and contracts associated 
with the relocation of the CITB office.

Conflicts of Interest – Disclosure by Board Members
A Register of Interests was maintained during 2019-20 whereby members 
recorded in advance any interests which may conflict with those of CITB.  

In the event that a potential or actual conflict of interest may arise at a Board 
meeting, the Member is obliged to declare it. The member may be asked to 
withdraw from the meeting and not vote on the matter.  

Conflicts of interest declared during the year were as follows

Corporate Governance continued ...
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BOARD

The Board is required to convene Sector 
Committees to develop training policy.

The Board had elected to form two 
subcommittees of the Board, comprised 
of five Board members each, as follows:

• Training Policy Committee (TPC) 
developed policies associated with 
the achievement of CITB strategic 
objectives and the application of 
CITB resources in order to optimise 
the outcomes for the industry.  It 
typically dealt with factors such as 
eligibility, scope of training, volume 
and rates of support. TPC was 
informed via recommendations 
from the Sector Committees and 
the Entry Level Training Reference 
Committee (ELTRC).

• Finance Risk and Audit Committee 
is responsible for fiduciary matters 
including the oversight of the annual 
budget, financial delegations and 
compliance management and 
management and financial reporting.  
It makes recommendations to 
the Board in respect of policies 
governing the collection of levy 
revenue, prudential management of 
the Fund and allocation of financial 
resources to support the delivery of 
the Annual Training Plan.

The CITF Act prescribes the formation 
of Sector Committees being Housing, 
Commercial and Civil. These Committees 
provide a strong industry focus and 
objective advice to inform and influence 
the quality of CITB policy formation and 
decision making.

• Input from each of the Sector 
Committees is collated and 
considered by the Training Policy 
Committee.  

• Sector Committee input is the 
principal mechanism through 
which the Annual Training Plan is 
developed.

• Each of the Sector Committees and 
ELTRC have a non-voting Board 
Member as Chair and Deputy as a 
means of ensuring direct feedback 
to the Board on matters under 
consideration.

The Committee structure was revised by 
the Board at its meeting on 23 July 2020.

Committee Structure during 2019-20

FINANCE RISK AND AUDIT  
COMMITTEE

TRAINING POLICY 
COMMITTEE

WORKING PARTIES  
(WHEN REQUIRED)

CIVIL SECTOR COMMITTEE

HOUSING SECTOR COMMITTEE

COMMERCIAL SECTOR COMMITTEE

ENTRY LEVEL TRAINING 
REFERENCE COMMITTEE

Finance Risk and Audit 
Committee

Daniel Gannon

Nicholas Handley (Chair)

Rebecca Hayes

Stephen Knight

Ruth Vagnarelli

Board Committees during  
2019-20 were as follows.

Training Policy Committee

Andrew Clarke 

Madeleine Frost (Chair)

Victoria Griffith

Ian Markos

Jessica Rogers
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Sector Committees during 2019-20

Civil Sector Committee

Name Member type Organisation

Victoria Griffith Chair

Gary Henderson Employee Rep Australian Workers’ Union

Rebecca Pickering Association
Civil Apprenticeships and 

Careers Ltd

Jodie Badcock Practitioner
Resources & Engineering 

Skills Alliance

Amanda Grocock Practitioner Master Landscapers of SA

Mitchell Hamdorf Practitioner SHAPE 

Loren Buob Practitioner Downer

Tim Bisop Practitioner BMD Constructions

Paul Davison Practitioner Davison Earthmovers

Ilario Roccisano Practitioner AECOM

Housing Sector Committee

Name Member type Organisation

Ruth Vagnarelli Chair

Stephen Knight Deputy 

Alex Capper Employee Rep CEPU SA

Will Frogley Association
Master Builders 

Association of SA

Boris Mahne Practitioner USG Boral

Aaron Genesin Practitioner Tectonic Tiling

Ben Cunningham Practitioner Watermark Painting

Bill Ktisti Practitioner Rossdale Homes

Carmel Siciliano Practitioner Klemm Homes

Craig Fleming Practitioner
National Association of 

Steel-framed Housing

Leigh Campbell Practitioner Built Environs

James Doyle Practitioner Creative Structures

Terry Tsapaliaris Practitioner Sarah Constructions

Commercial Sector Committee

Name Member type Organisation

Anthony Carbone Chair

Ian Markos Deputy 

Nathan Clarke Employee Rep Australian Workers’ Union

Andrew Clarke Association
Master Plumbers 

Association

Demi Brown Association AMCA SA

Larry Moore Association NECA SA/NT Chapter

Andrew Marshall Practitioner Marshall Brougham

Chris Mattner Practitioner CME Group

Fernando D’apollonio Practitioner D&V Services

Jeff Piotto Practitioner Piotto Bros

John Bricher Practitioner Laser Linings

Laura Cornthwaite Practitioner Badge

Scott Kennett Practitioner Kennett Brothers

Paul Williams Practitioner Comace Pty Ltd

John Fusco Practitioner Fusco Constructions

Fred Pascale Practitioner Pascale Construction
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Construction Industry Training Board P: 08 8172 9500 
ABN 39 817 133 546 1800 739 839 

78 Richmond Road E: citb@citb.org.au 

Keswick SA 5035 citb.org.au 

Certification of the Financial Statements 

We certify that the attached general purpose financial statements for the Construction 
Industry Training Board: 

comply with relevant Treasurer's Instructions issued under section 41 of the Public 
Finance and Audit Act 1987, and relevant Australian accounting standards; 

comply with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012; 

are in accordance with the accounts and records of the Board; and 

present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Construction Industry 
Training Board as at 30 June 2020 and the results of its operation and cash flows 
for the financial year. 

We certify that: 

the internal controls employed by the Construction Industry and Training Board for 
the financial year over its financial reporting and its preparation of the general 
purpose financial statements have been effective throughout the reporting period; 
and 

at the time of signing of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe 
that the Construction Industry Training Board will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 

MAREE WAUCHOPE 

Presiding Member 

24 September 2020 

DEREK CLARK 

Board Member 

24 September 2020 -------

oao 

Interim Chief Executive Officer 

24 September 2020 

Finance & Business Services 

24 September 2020 

Supporting the SA Building and Construction Industry and Workforce 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
Government of South Australia 
Auditor-General's Department 

Level 9 
State Administration Centre 
200 Victoria Square 
Adelaide SA 5000 

Tel +618 8226 9640 
Fax +618 8226 9688 

ABN 53 327 061 410 

audgensa@audit.sa.gov .au 
www.audit.sa.gov.au 

To the Presiding Member 
Construction Industry Training Board 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Construction Industry Training Board for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2020. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Treasurer's Instructions promulgated under the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit 
Act 198 7, Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
and Australian Accounting Standards including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Construction Industry
Training Board as at 30 June 2020, its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended, and

b) complying with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012.

The financial report comprises: 

• 
• 

• 
• 

a Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2020 
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 
a Certificate from the Presiding Member, a Board Member, the Interim Chief Executive 
Officer and the Executive Manager Finance and Business Services. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted the audit in accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the 'Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report' section of my 
report. I am independent of Construction Industry Training Board. The Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1987 establishes the independence of the Auditor-General. In conducting the audit, 
the relevant ethical requirements of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including Independence Standards) have been met. 

1 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Interim Chief Executive
Officer

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

My report refers only to the financial report described above and does not provide assurance 
over the integrity of electronic publication by the entity on any website nor does it provide an 
opinion on other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the report. 

I communicate with the Interim Chief Executive Officer and the members of the Construction 
Industry Training Board about, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during the audit. 

Andrew Richardson 
Auditor-General 
25 September 2020 
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To the Presiding Member  
Construction Industry Training Board  

Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Construction Industry Training Board for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Treasurer’s Instructions promulgated under the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 
1987, Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and 
Australian Accounting Standards including:

a. giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Construction Industry Training      
Board as at 30 June 2020, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended, and

b. complying with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission  
Act 2012.

The financial report comprises:

• a Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020 

• a Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 

• a Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2020 

• a Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2020 

• notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 

• a Certificate from the Presiding Member, a Board Member, the Interim Chief Executive 
Officer and the Executive Manager Finance and Business Services.

Basis for opinion 
I conducted the audit in accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and Australian 
Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report’ section of my report. I am 
independent of Construction Industry Training Board. The Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 
establishes the independence of the Auditor-General. In conducting the audit, the relevant ethical 
requirements of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) have been met.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my opinion.

Andrew Richardson 
Auditor-General 
25 September 2020
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Our ref: A20/293  

25 September 2020  

Ms M Wauchope  
Presiding Member  
Construction Industry Training Board  
78 Richmond Road  
KESWICK SA 5035  

 
 
Dear Ms Wauchope 

Independence declaration

I am responsible for the audit of the Construction Industry Training Board for the year ended 30 
June 2020, and I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year there have 
been 

i.  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of the Construction Industry Training Board and the entities it 
controlled during the period. 

Yours sincerely 

Andrew Richardson 
Auditor-General 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Interim Chief Executive
Officer

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

My report refers only to the financial report described above and does not provide assurance 
over the integrity of electronic publication by the entity on any website nor does it provide an 
opinion on other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the report. 

I communicate with the Interim Chief Executive Officer and the members of the Construction 
Industry Training Board about, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during the audit. 

Andrew Richardson 
Auditor-General 
25 September 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
Government of South Australia 
Auditor-General's Department 

Level 9 
State Administration Centre 
200 Victoria Square 
Adelaide SA 5000 

Tel +618 8226 9640 
Fax +618 8226 9688 

ABN 53 327 061 410 

audgensa@audit.sa.gov .au 
www.audit.sa.gov.au 

To the Presiding Member 
Construction Industry Training Board 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Construction Industry Training Board for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2020. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Treasurer's Instructions promulgated under the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit 
Act 198 7, Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
and Australian Accounting Standards including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Construction Industry
Training Board as at 30 June 2020, its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended, and

b) complying with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012.

The financial report comprises: 

• 
• 

• 
• 

a Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2020 
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 
a Certificate from the Presiding Member, a Board Member, the Interim Chief Executive 
Officer and the Executive Manager Finance and Business Services. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted the audit in accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the 'Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report' section of my 
report. I am independent of Construction Industry Training Board. The Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1987 establishes the independence of the Auditor-General. In conducting the audit, 
the relevant ethical requirements of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including Independence Standards) have been met. 

1 
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Our ref: A20/293  

25 September 2020  

Ms M Wauchope  
Presiding Member  
Construction Industry Training Board  
78 Richmond Road  
KESWICK SA 5035  

 
 
Dear Ms Wauchope 

Auditor’s independence declaration

As you are aware the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (section 
60-40) requires a registered entity to obtain a written declaration each year from its auditor stating 
that to the best of the auditor’s knowledge and belief:

• there have been no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in 
relation to the audit; or

• the only contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit are those contraventions details of which are set out in the declaration.

The Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 establishes the independence of the Auditor-General. 
The applicable codes of professional conduct are APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards)’ and Code of Ethics for the South Australian 
Public Sector. 

A declaration of independence for the audit of the Construction Industry Training Board for the 
year ended 30 June 2020 is attached. 

Yours sincerely

Andrew Richardson 
Auditor-General 
25 September 2020

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Interim Chief Executive
Officer

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

My report refers only to the financial report described above and does not provide assurance 
over the integrity of electronic publication by the entity on any website nor does it provide an 
opinion on other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the report. 

I communicate with the Interim Chief Executive Officer and the members of the Construction 
Industry Training Board about, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that I identify during the audit. 

Andrew Richardson 
Auditor-General 
25 September 2020 
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For official use onlyINDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
Government of South Australia 
Auditor-General's Department 

Level 9 
State Administration Centre 
200 Victoria Square 
Adelaide SA 5000 

Tel +618 8226 9640 
Fax +618 8226 9688 

ABN 53 327 061 410 

audgensa@audit.sa.gov .au 
www.audit.sa.gov.au 

To the Presiding Member 
Construction Industry Training Board 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial report of Construction Industry Training Board for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2020. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Treasurer's Instructions promulgated under the provisions of the Public Finance and Audit 
Act 198 7, Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
and Australian Accounting Standards including: 

a) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Construction Industry
Training Board as at 30 June 2020, its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended, and

b) complying with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012.

The financial report comprises: 

• 
• 

• 
• 

a Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2020 
a Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2020 
notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 
a Certificate from the Presiding Member, a Board Member, the Interim Chief Executive 
Officer and the Executive Manager Finance and Business Services. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted the audit in accordance with the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987 and 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the 'Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report' section of my 
report. I am independent of Construction Industry Training Board. The Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1987 establishes the independence of the Auditor-General. In conducting the audit, 
the relevant ethical requirements of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(including Independence Standards) have been met. 

1 



31   |    CITB Annual Report 2019-20

Financial Statements
Construction Industry Training Board Financial Statements         
 

 
  Page 1 of 24 

 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020      

Note 2020 2019   
$’000 $’000 

Income  
 

 
Industry levies 4.1 20,243 21,051 

Interest  338  584  

Grants from SA Government 4.2 298 297 

Other income 4.4 186  11  
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 4.3 1 - 

Total Income  21,066 21,943 

    

Expenses    

Employee benefits expenses 2.3 2,242  2,299  

Supplies and services 3.1 1,038 1,190 

Depreciation and amortisation 3.2 123 76  

Grants and subsidies 3.3 30 92 

Training claims 3.4 16,791  17,777  

Interest paid  5 - 

Impairment loss on receivables   (7) 19 

Total Expenses  20,222 21,453 

Net Result  844 490 

Total Comprehensive Result  

 
844 

 
490     

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 
    
  Note 2020 2019 

 

 
$’000 $’000 

Current Assets 
  

 
Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 1,804  2,010  

Receivables 6.2 894 1,006  

Other financial assets 6.3 22,876 22,519  

Total Current Assets  25,574    25,535    

Non-Current Assets  

  

Property, plant and equipment 5.1 917  195  

Intangible assets 5.4 8  29  

Total Non-Current Assets  925 224 

Total Assets  26,499  25,759   

Current Liabilities  

  

Payables 7.1 1,897 1,810 

Financial liabilities 7.2 78 - 

Employee benefits 2.4 114  135  

Provisions 7.3 1,500  2,254  

Total Current Liabilities  3,589 4,199 

Non-Current Liabilities  

  

Payables 7.1 11  12  

Financial liabilities 7.2 518 - 

Employee benefits 2.4 204  215  

Total Non-Current Liabilities  733 227  

Total Liabilities  4,322 4,426 

Net Assets  22,177   21,333   

Reserves 8.1 9,048  8,999  

Retained earnings  13,129 12,334  

Total Equity  

 
22,177 

 
21,333 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

Unrecognised contractual commitments  10.1 

Contingent assets and liabilities   10.2 

 

Financial Statements
Statement of Financial Position 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
 

 
 

 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
  

 
 

 
  

Note Operational 
Risk Reserve 

(Prudential 
Reserve) 

Strategic 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 

 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at 30 June 2018  10,302 1,000 9,541 20,843 
Total Comprehensive Result 2018-2019   -    - 239 239 
Prior period adjustment 1.4 - - 251 251 
Restated Total Comprehensive Result 2018-2019   -    - 490 490 
      
Transfer from Operational Risk Reserve (Prudential 
Reserve)  (2,303) - 2,303 -    
Balance at 30 June 2019  7,999 1,000 12,334 21,333 
Total Comprehensive Result 2019-2020  -    - 844 844 
Transfer from Operational Risk Reserve (Prudential 
Reserve)  49 - (49) -    

Balance at 30 June 2020 
 

8.1 
 

8,048  
 

1,000 
 

13,129 
 

22,177 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

 

  

Financial Statements
Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020    
     

Note 2020 2019 
  

$’000 $’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
   

Cash Inflows 
   

Receipts from industry training levies 
 

20,231  20,980  

Interest received 
 

373  585  

GST recovered from the ATO 
 

148  142  

Grants from SA Government  298 297 

Other receipts 
 

250   (14)   

Cash generated from operations 
 

  21,300   21,990 

Cash Outflows 
 

  
Employee benefits paid 

 
(2,258) (2,277) 

Training expenditure paid 
 

(17,380) (18,395) 

Other payments 
 

(1,283) (1,471) 

Cash used in operations 
 

(20,921)  (22,143)  

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 
 

379 (153)  
Cash flows from investing activities 

   

Cash Inflows 
   

Maturing term deposits 
 

  299,954    83,762  

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 
 

29 - 

Cash generated from investing activities 
 

299,983  83,762 

Cash Outflows 
   

Purchase of investments 
 

(300,312) (83,297) 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 

 

(223) (1) 

Cash used in investing activities 
 

(300,535)  (83,298)  

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities 
 

  (552)    464  

Cash flows from financing activities    

Cash Outflows    

Repayment of leases  (33) - 

Cash used in financing activities  (33)  -  

Net cash used in financing activities 
 

  (33)    -  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (206) 311 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 
 

  2,010    1,699  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 6.1 1,804    2,010    

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

 

Financial Statements
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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1. About the Construction Industry Training Board 

The Construction Industry Training Board (Board) is established under the Construction Industry Training Fund 

Act 1993 (CITF Act). 

The Board does not control any other entity and has no interests in unconsolidated structured entities. The 
financial statements and accompanying notes include all the controlled activities of the Board.  

1.1. Basis of preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements prepared in compliance with: 

• section 23 of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987;  

• the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012; 

• the CITF Act; 

• Treasurer’s Instructions and Accounting Policy Statements issued by the Treasurer under the Public Finance 

and Audit Act 1987; and 

• relevant Australian Accounting Standards (with reduced disclosure requirements). 

For the 2019-20 financial statements the Board adopted AASB 16 – Leases. Further information is provided in 
note 9.1. 

The financial statements are prepared based on a 12 month reporting period and presented in Australian 
currency. The historical cost convention is used unless a different measurement basis is specifically disclosed in 
the note associated with the item measured. 
 

The Board is exempt from Income Tax under subdivision 50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.   
The Board is exempt from Payroll Tax in South Australia. 

 
The Board is liable for Goods and Services Tax (GST) and Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT), however, as a registered 
charity, is endorsed to access: 

• GST concessions under Division 176 of A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 

• FBT rebate (49%) under section 123E of the Fringe Benefits Tax Assessment Act 1986. 

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation 
Office, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 

expense item applicable; and 

• receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

Assets and liabilities that are to be sold, consumed or realised as part of the normal operating cycle have been 
classified as current assets or current liabilities. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Statements
Notes To The Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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1.2. Objectives and programs 

The objective of the Board is to manage and administer the Construction Industry Training Fund (the Fund). The 
Board’s responsibilities include: 

• to act as a principal adviser to the Minister for Education and the Assistant Minister for Vocational Education, 

Training and Apprenticeships for the Commonwealth and the Minister for Innovation and Skills for the State 
on training related matters for the Building and Construction Industry in South Australia; 

• preparation of training plans; 

• promote increased productivity, career opportunities, personal satisfaction and occupational health and 
safety; 

• to initiate, carry out, support or promote research into training and personal needs; 

• to liaise with educational, professional and training bodies in relation to training and personnel development; 
and 

• co-ordination of training, review and evaluation of employment related training programs. 

 
The Fund collects revenue by way of a levy of 0.25 percent of the value of building and construction work over 
$40,000. This revenue is invested back into the industry in the form of expenditure on training and apprentice 
support to training provided by government and non-government organisations. 

1.3. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic 

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted on the operations of the Board and the impacts are included under the 
relevant disclosure notes. Whilst government (State and Australian) stimulus packages for the building and 
construction industry have been initiated, the full impact will not be seen until future financial years. The key 

impacts of the pandemic have been reduced training claims expense (refer note 3.4) with respect to attendance 
at construction skills training short courses and apprentices newly registering with CITB. Attendance at the 
courses fell during April and May 2020 but started to recover in June 2020. Similarly, the number of apprentices 

registering with CITB fell markedly in April 2020 but the numbers have increased steadily in subsequent months. 
Levy revenues have not suffered a major impact from the pandemic (refer note 4.1). 

1.4. Prior period adjustment 

Following a review of the accrual process for Construction Skills Training (CST), it was identified an amount of 
$250,971 was incorrectly included as an accrued CST expense in 2018-19. An adjustment has been made to the 

2018-19 training claims expenditure by decreasing the expense by this amount, with a corresponding decrease 
to the accrued training liability. This results in an increase to the 2018-19 Total Comprehensive Result to a $490k 
surplus (previously reported a surplus of $239k). Notes 3.4,  7.1 and 7.3 for 2019 show adjusted amounts, in 

addition to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial Position.    

2. Board, committee and employees 

2.1. Key management personnel 

Key management personnel of the Board include the Minister, Board Members, the Chief Executive Officer and 
the two members of the Executive Team who have responsibility for the strategic direction and management of 
the Board. Total compensation for key management personnel was $812,831 in 2019-20 and $694,000 in 2018-

19. 
 
Salaries and other benefits the Minister for Innovation and Skills receives are excluded from this total. The 

Minister’s remuneration and allowances are set by the Parliamentary Remuneration Act 1990 and the 
Remuneration Tribunal of SA respectively and are payable from the Consolidated Account (via the Department of 

Treasury and Finance) under section 6 the Parliamentary Remuneration Act 1990. 

   

Financial Statements
Notes To The Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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TTrraannssaaccttiioonnss  wwiitthh  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  aanndd  ootthheerr  rreellaatteedd  ppaarrttiieess    

The Board is an independent statutory authority established pursuant to the Construction Industry Training Fund 

Act 1993 and is explicitly not an agency or instrumentality of the Crown. Related parties of the Board include all 
key management personnel and their close family members and any entities controlled or jointly controlled by 
them.  

During the year training funds of $870,474 were allocated to associated entities of the members of the 
Construction Industry Training Board.  

2.2. Board and committee members 

Members during the 2020 financial year were: 

Members 

Maree Wauchope (Independent Presiding Member, appointed 20 June 2020) 
Peter Kennedy (Independent Presiding Member, ceased 19 June 2020) 
Nicholas Handley 

Daniel Gannon 

Ian Markos 

Anthony Carbone 

Victoria Griffith 

Ruth Vagnarelli 

Laurel Dixon (ceased 3 July 2019) 

Rebecca Hayes (ceased 19 June 2020) 

Jessica Rogers (ceased 19 June 2020) 

Andrew Clarke (ceased 19 June 2020) 

Stephen Knight (appointed 20 June 2020) 

Aaron Cartledge (appointed 20 June 2020)  

Amanda Price-McGregor (appointed 20 June 2020) 
Patrick Curran (appointed 20 June 2020) 
 
The following deputy received a fee for attendance at meetings: 
Madeleine Frost (ceased 19 June 2020) 

BBooaarrdd  aanndd  ccoommmmiitttteeee  rreemmuunneerraattiioonn    

The number of members whose remuneration received or receivable falls within the following bands: 

 
2020 2019 

 
Number of Members Number of Members 

NIL 19 14 

$1-$19,999 11 18 

$20,000-$29,999 1 1 

Total 31 33 

 
Total remuneration received or receivable by members was $141,248 ($161,594). This included remuneration of 
their deputies of $7,910 ($5,650).  

 
Included in the above table, there are 14 deputies who were not paid and not listed above. There were 5 
members appointed in June 2020 who were not remunerated as they did not attend any meetings during the 

year. 
 
Remuneration of members and their deputies reflects all costs of performing Board member duties including 

sitting fees, superannuation contributions, salary sacrifice benefits, fringe benefits and related fringe benefits tax.  
 

Financial Statements
Notes To The Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020
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2.3. Employee benefits expenses 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Salaries and wages  1,795  1,730 

Board fees   149   167 

Annual leave 113    122  

Employment on-costs-superannuation 143    157  

Long Service Leave (1)    72  

Employment on-costs-other   43    51  

Total employee benefits expenses 2,242 2,299 

EEmmppllooyymmeenntt  oonn--ccoossttss  --  ssuuppeerraannnnuuaattiioonn  

The superannuation employment on-costs charge represents the Board’s contributions to superannuation plans 
in respect of current services of current employees. 

EExxeeccuuttiivvee  rreemmuunneerraattiioonn  
2020 

Number of 
Employees 

2019 
Number of 
Employees 

The number of employees whose remuneration received or receivable 
falls within the following bands: 

 

$214 001 to $234 000 - 1 
$314 001 to $334 000 1 - 
Total 1 1 
 

*This band has been included for the purposes pf reporting comparative figures based on the executive base 
level remuneration rate for 2018-19. 
 

The total remuneration received by those employees for the year was $323,239 ($231,113). 
 
The table includes all employees who received remuneration equal to or greater than the base executive 

remuneration level during the year. Remuneration of employees reflects all costs of employment including 
salaries and wages, payments in lieu of leave, superannuation contributions, salary sacrifice benefits and fringe 
benefits and any fringe benefits tax paid or payable in respect of those benefits. 

2.4. Employee benefits liability 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Current: 
  

Annual leave 103 112 

Long Service Leave - 23 

Accrued salaries and wages 11  -  

Total current employee benefits 114  135  

     

Non-current:   
Long service leave 204  215  

Total non-current employee benefits   204   215 

Total employee benefits 318 350 
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Employee benefits accrue as a result of services provided up to the reporting date that remain unpaid. Long-term 
employee benefits are measured at present value and short-term employee benefits are measured at nominal 
amounts. 

SSaallaarriieess  aanndd  wwaaggeess,,  aannnnuuaall  lleeaavvee  aanndd  ppeerrssoonnaall  lleeaavvee  

The liability for salary and wages is measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at remuneration rates 

current at the reporting date.  
 
The annual leave liability is expected to be payable within 12 months and is measured at the undiscounted 

amount expected to be paid. 
 
No provision has been made for personal leave as all personal leave is non-vesting and the average personal 
leave taken in future years by employees is estimated to be less than the annual entitlement for personal leave.   

LLoonngg  sseerrvviiccee  lleeaavvee  

The liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in 

respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit 
method. Details about the measurement of long service leave liability is provided at note 11.1. 

3. Expenses 

Employee benefits expenses are disclosed in note 2.3. 

3.1. Supplies and services 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Training delivery 228 245 

Information technology and communications   218    188  

Accommodation 157 173 

Professional services   184   138 

General administration and consumables   62    134  

Marketing 18 100 

Collection agent fees 51 94 

Other   50    54  

Research 38 30 

Insurance 24    24    

Legal costs   8    10  

Total supplies and services 1,038 1,190 

AAccccoommmmooddaattiioonn  

The Board’s accommodation is provided by an external company under a lease agreement. The lease agreement 

meets the definition of lease set out in AASB 16. 

OOppeerraattiinngg  lleeaassee  ppaayymmeennttss  

Operating lease payments (less any lease incentives) are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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CCoonnssuullttaannttss  

The number of consultancies and the dollar amount paid/payable (included in supplies and services expense) to 

consultants that fell within the following bands: 

 No 2020 No 2019 

  $’000  $’000 

Below $10 000 - -  2 9  

$10 000 or above  3 97 - - 

Total 3 97  2 9  

3.2. Depreciation and amortisation 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Motor vehicles 34 35 

Computer software 21 21 

Accommodation and leasehold improvements   12 3 

Right-of-use buildings and improvements 37 - 

Computer equipment 12 13 

Office machines 5 3 

Furniture and fittings 2 1 

Total depreciation and amortisation 123 76 
 
All non-current assets with a limited useful life are systematically depreciated/amortised over their useful lives in 
a manner that reflects the consumption of their service potential. 

UUsseeffuull  lliiffee    

Depreciation and amortisation are calculated on a straight-line basis. Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets depreciation and amortisation are calculated over the estimated useful life as follows:    

• Motor vehicles 15 percent 

• Computer Software 25 percent 

• Computer equipment 25 percent 

• Office machines 20 percent 

• Accommodation and leasehold Improvements 35 percent 

• Right-of-use buildings and improvements Lease term 

• Furniture and fittings 20 percent 
 
During the year, the Board did not make any adjustments to the estimated useful life of any asset categories. 

RReevviieeww  ooff  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  eessttiimmaatteess    

Assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, on an 

annual basis. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for prospectively by changing the time period or method, as 
appropriate.   
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3.3. Grants and subsidies 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

One-off grants – Innovation   30   92  

Total grants and subsidies 30 92 

Innovation grants, consistent with Board approved initiatives, included programs such as basic English and 
numeracy for construction workers with English as a second language, network awareness training and building 

information modelling.  

3.4. Training claims 

 
2020 2019 

 $’000 $’000 

Housing sector   8,548    9,092  

Commercial sector   4,864    5,228  

Civil sector 2,314 2,515 

Other 1,065 942 

Total training claims   16,791    17,777  
 
Funding is provided to government and non-government training providers upon receiving training claims. 
Training claims are recognised as expense when the training has been provided by the training provider. This 
is determined from actual claims received and an estimate of training provided but claims not yet received.  

4. Income 

4.1. Industry levies 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Housing sector 8,560  8,831  

Commercial sector 6,435  6,282  

Civil sector 5,248  5,938  

Total industry levies   20,243   21,051 
 
Industry levies are recognised as income when the Board obtains control of the levies. Control is normally 
obtained when a levy application is lodged. 
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4.2. Grants from SA Government 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

D2C contributions/grants 298  297  

Total grants from SA Government   298    297  

Doorways2Construction™ (D2C) is South Australia's premier Vocational Education and Training in schools 
program for the building and construction industry with grants to assist in the funding received from the 

Department for Education (DfE) and the Department for Innovation and Skills (DIS).   
Revenue is recognised when invoices are raised to DfE and DIS according to the payment schedule in the 
respective agreement. 

4.3. Net gain from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 

 2020 2019 

 $’000 $’000 
Motor vehicles:   
Proceeds from disposal 28 - 
Less net book value of assets disposed (26) - 
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of motor vehicles 2 - 
   
Office machines:   
Proceeds from disposal - - 
Less net book value of assets disposed (1) - 
Net gain/(loss) from disposal of office machines (1) - 
   
Total net gain/(loss) from disposal of assets 1 - 

4.4. Other income 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Sundry revenue 186  11  

Total other income   186  11 
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5. Non-financial assets 

5.1. Property, plant and equipment by asset class 

Property, plant and equipment comprises owned and right-of-use (leased) tangible assets that do not meet the 
definition of investment property. 

 2020 2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Motor vehicles at cost (deemed fair value) 183  231  

Less: accumulated depreciation (78)  (67)  

  105  164  

Computer equipment at cost (deemed fair value)   65    107  

Less: accumulated depreciation (60)  (90)  

   5    17  

Office machines at cost (deemed fair value) 28 67 
Less: accumulated depreciation (15)  (57)  

    13    10  

Furniture and fittings at cost (deemed fair value) 52  49  

Less: accumulated depreciation (28)  (46)  

    24    3  

Accommodation and leasehold improvements at cost (deemed fair value)   192    396  

Less: accumulated depreciation (13)  (395)  

    179    1  
 2020 2019 

  $’000 $’000 

Right-of-use building and leasehold improvement at cost  628 -  

Less: accumulated depreciation (37)  -  

    591    -  

Total property, plant and equipment 917 195  

5.2. Property, plant and equipment owned by the Board 

Property, plant and equipment owned by the Board with a value equal to or in excess of $1 000 is capitalised, 
otherwise it is expensed. Property, plant and equipment is recorded at fair value. Detail about the Board’s 
approach to fair value is set out in note 11.2.  

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt    

Property, plant and equipment owned by the Board has not been assessed for impairment as they are non-cash 

generating assets, that are specialised in nature and held for continual use of their service capacity and are 
subject to regular revaluation. 
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RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn  22001199--2200  

  
Furniture 
& fittings 

Office 
machines 

Computer 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Accommodation 
leasehold 

improvements 
Total  

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Carrying amount 
as at 1 July 2019  3  10 17 164   1  195 

Acquisitions  23    10 - - 190 223 

Disposals  -    (1)  - (26)  -    (27) 
Depreciation and 
amortisation  (2) (5) (12) (34)   (12) (65) 
Carrying amount 
as at 30 June 2020  24  14 5 104   179  326 

5.3. Property, plant and equipment leased by the Board 

Property, plant and equipment leased by the Board is recorded at cost. Additions to leased property, plant and 
equipment during 2019-20 were $628,140 ($0).  

 
Short-term leases of 12 months or less and low value leases where the underlying asset value is less than 
$15,000 are not recognised as right-of-use assets. The associated lease payments are recognised as an 

expense and are disclosed in note 3.1. 
 
The Board has a lease for office accommodation lease which commenced 1 November 2019. The term of the 

lease is 7 years 2 months, with the option to extend for 10 years. The option to extend has not been included in 
the term because management has determined that it is uncertain whether the Board will exercise the right of 
renewal. Rent is payable monthly in advance. 

 
The lease liabilities related to the right-of-use assets are disclosed in note 7.2. The Board’s maturity analysis of 
its lease liabilities is disclosed in note 11.3. Right-of-use assets depreciation expense is disclosed in note 3.2. 
Lease interest expense is disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive income. Cash outflows related to leases 

are disclosed in note 8.2. 

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt    

Property, plant and equipment leased by the Board has been assessed for impairment. There was no indication 
of impairment. No impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss was recognised.  

5.4. Intangible assets 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Computer software   1,773   1,773 

Accumulated amortisation (1,765)  (1,744)  

Total computer software   8    29  

Total intangible assets 8  29  
 
Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and are tested for indications of impairment at each reporting 

date. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 

The acquisition of or internal development of software is capitalised only when the expenditure meets the 
definition and recognition criteria and when the amount of expenditure is greater than or equal to $1 000. 
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The majority of the computer software relates to the Board’s internally developed training and levy administration 
system (TALAS) which is now fully depreciated. 

RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn  22001199--2200  

Computer software 
$’000 

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2019 29 

Amortisation  (21)  

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2020 8  

6. Financial assets 

6.1. Cash and cash equivalents 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Cash at bank   1,804    1,004  

Bank deposits at call   -    1,006  

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,804 2,010 
 

6.2. Receivables 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Current 
  

Trade receivables   385    676  

Less allowance for doubtful debts (21) (28) 

Less levy refund payable  (64) (30) 

Prepayments   86    145  

Accrued interest   19    54  

GST input tax recoverable   9    16  

Sundry debtors   67    97  

Accrued levy revenue 413  76  

Total current receivables 894 1,006 
 
Trade receivables arise in the normal course of levies raised and in selling goods and services to the public and 
government agencies. Trade receivables are normally settled within 14-30 days after the issue of an invoice or 

the goods/services have been provided under a contractual arrangement.  
 
Receivables, prepayments and accrued revenues are non-interest bearing. Receivables are held with the 

objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and they are measured at amortised cost.  
 
The net amount of GST payable to the ATO is included as part of receivables. 
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6.3. Other financial assets 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Current investments   
ANZ term deposits   7,400    7,300  

National Australia Bank term deposits 6,129 892 

Westpac term deposits   3,730   8,804  

Commonwealth Bank term deposits   3,233    3,190  

Bendigo Adelaide Bank term deposits 2,384 2,333 

Total other financial assets 22,876  22,519  
 
Other Financial Assets comprise term deposits held to maturity for periods of less than three months. There is no 
impairment loss on term deposits due to the rating of the counterparties. 
 

For further information on risk management refer to note 11.3.  

7. Liabil it ies 

Employee benefits liabilities are disclosed in note 2.4. 

 

7.1. Payables 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Current   

Accrued training expenses 1,667  1,472  

Accrued expenses 93  159  

Trade payables 68  127  

Employment on-costs  69   52  

Total current payables  1,897  1,810 

Non-current   
Employment on-costs 11  12  

Total non-current payables 11  12  

Total payables 1,908 1,822 
 
Payables and accruals are raised for all amounts owing but unpaid. Sundry payables are normally settled within 
30 days from the date the invoice is first received. All payables are non-interest bearing. The carrying amount of 

payables represents fair value due to their short-term nature. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from the ATO is included as part of payables. 
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EEmmppllooyymmeenntt  oonn--ccoossttss  

Employment on-costs include superannuation contributions and ReturnToWorkSA levies and are settled when 

the respective employee benefits that they relate to is discharged. 
 
The Board contributes to the employees’ nominated prescribed superannuation fund. These contributions are 

treated as an expense when they occur. There is no liability for payments to beneficiaries as they have been 
assumed by the respective superannuation schemes. The only liability at reporting date relates to any 
contributions due but not yet paid into the superannuation funds. 

 

As a result of an actuarial assessment performed by the Department of Treasury and Finance, the proportion of 
long service leave taken as leave has changed from the 2019 rate at (41%) to 42% and the average factor for the 
calculation of employer superannuation cost on-costs remains unchanged from the 2019 rate of 9.8%. These 
rates are used in the employment on-cost calculation. The net financial effect of the changes in the current 
financial year is not material. 

Financial liabilities 

 
Note 2020 2019 

 
 $’000 $’000 

Current    

Lease liabilities 5.3 78  -  

Total current borrowings  78  -  

Non-current    

Lease liabilities 5.3 518 -  

Total non-current borrowings  518  -  

Total borrowings  596 - 
The Board measures financial liabilities at amortised cost. 

All material cash outflows are reflected in the lease liabilities disclosed above. For 2018-19 the lease liabilities 
reflect only finance leases recognised in accordance with AASB 117 with the Board not having any finance 
leases in 2018-19. 

7.2. Provisions 

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Current   

Provision for Training Claims   1,500   2,254 

Total provisions   1,500    2,254  
 
The Board has provided a training claim provision that represents the discounted value of the present obligation 

in relation to progressive training claims that fall within the financial year. The discounted value reflects 
management’s assessment of the cost of servicing the claims discounted by probability of claim and attrition 
rates based on historic empirical data. Changes to the number of registrants, funding rate, and discount rates 

impact the carrying amount of the provision. In 2019-20 a provision was recognised for progressive training 
claims that are likely to fall due within the year of balance date. 
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8. Other disclosures 

8.1. Equity  

The Board has provided for two reserves. Operational Risk Reserve - a reserve to meet operational risks involved 
during the course of business calculated using a number of assumptions addressing variability in revenue, 
expenditure and other events. Strategic Reserve - a reserve to address any strategic needs that may arise which 

the Board considers warrant an allocation of funds calculated at a nominal value. 

8.2. Cash flow 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is classified as 
part of operating cash flows. 

 
 
 

LLeeaasseess  

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Right of use assets   33   - 

Total cash outflow for leases   33    -  

9. Changes in accounting policy 

9.1. AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 sets out a comprehensive model for lessee accounting that addresses recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of leases. Lessor accounting is largely unchanged. AASB 16 Leases replaces AASB 

117 Leases and related interpretations. 
  

The adoption of AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 resulted adjustments to the amounts recognised from a 
lessee perspective in the financial statements: 

• AASB 117 Leases only required the recognition of an asset and lease liability in relation to finance leases. 

AASB 16 Leases applies a comprehensive model to all leases.  Applying AASB 16 will result in leases 
previously classified as operating leases having right-of-use assets and related lease liabilities being 

recognised in the Statement of Financial Position 

• AASB 117 Leases resulted in operating lease payments being recognised as an expense under Supplies and 

Services. AASB 16 Leases largely replaces this with depreciation expenses that represents the use of the 
right-of-use asset and borrowing costs that represent the cost associated with financing the right-of-use 
asset. 

IImmppaacctt  oonn  rreettaaiinneedd  eeaarrnniinnggss  

At 1 July 2019, the Board did not have any leases that met the AASB 16 definition of leases, hence there was no 

impact to retained earnings at 1 July 2019.    
 
The Board disclosed in its 2018-19 financial report total undiscounted operating lease commitments of $13 000 

under AASB 117.  
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The Board’s operating leases comprise office accommodation and office equipment. As at 30 June 2019, these 
leases were non-cancellable and rent was payable monthly in advance. These leases did not meet the definition 
of lease set out either in AASB 16 or in the former standard AASB 117.   

 
A new office accommodation lease commenced 1 November 2019 for a seven year period. 

AAccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  oonn  ttrraannssiittiioonn  

AASB 16 sets out accounting policies on transition in its transitional provisions. The Treasurer’s Instructions 

(Accounting Policy Statements) requires certain choices in those transitional provisions to be taken. The Board 
has adopted the following accounting policies:  

• at 1 July 2019 AASB 16 was applied only to contracts that were previously identified as containing a lease 
under AASB 117 and related interpretations. At 1 July 2019, the Board did not have any leases that met the 
AASB 16 definition of leases. 

• the initial measurement of lease liability was the present value of the remaining leases payments discounted 
using the relevant incremental borrowing published by the Department of Treasury and Finance rate as at 31 
January 2020 based on the SA Government’s cost of borrowing. The average weighted incremental 

borrowing rate for this purpose was 1.25%.   

• the initial measurement of right-of-use assets has been calculated as an amount equal to the lease liability on 
transition adjusted for prepaid or accrued lease payments and lease incentive liabilities. 

• the initial measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets excludes all leases that ended by 30 June 
2020. 

OOnnggooiinngg  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  

The Treasurer’s Instructions (Accounting Policy Statements) specify required accounting policies for public 
authorities in applying AASB 16. These requirements are reflected in the Board’s accounting policies as follows: 

• AASB 16 is not applied to leases of intangible assets. 

• right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised for leases of low value assets, being assets which 
have a value of $15 000 or less, nor short-term leases, being those with a lease term of 12 months or less. 

• right-of-use assets are not measured at fair value on initial recognition for leases that have significantly 
below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the public authority to further its objectives. 

• right-of-use assets are subsequently measured applying a cost model.  

 
Significant accounting policies relate to the application of AASB 16 are disclosed under relevant notes and are 
referenced at note 5.3. 

9.2. Presentation of Financial Statements  

Treasurer’s Instructions (Accounting Policy Statements) issued 22 March 2019 removed the previous requirement 
for financial statements to be prepared using the net cost of services format. The net cost of services is the total 

cost of services less any revenue retained by public authorities involved in the provision of services but does not 
include items classified as revenues from and payments to the South Australian Government.  
 

Presentation of the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an ‘income and expense’ basis allows information to 
be presented in such a way that eliminates potential confusion as to the source of funding for the department. As 
well as changes to the format of the Statement of Comprehensive Income, there are presentational changes to 

remove the net cost of services format from the Statement of Cash Flows. These statements now show income 
before expenses, and cash receipts before cash payments. Related disclosures also reflect this changed format. 
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10. Outlook 

10.1. Unrecognised contractual commitments 

Commitments include operating, capital and outsourcing arrangements arising from contractual or statutory 
sources and are disclosed at their nominal value.  

OOppeerraattiinngg  lleeaassee  ccoommmmiittmmeennttss    

 
2020 2019 

 
$’000 $’000 

Within one year -  13  

Later than one year but not later than five years -  -  

Total operating lease commitments - 13 

Operating lease commitments is provided for the comparative year only as AASB 16 Leases does not 
distinguish between operating and finance leases for the lessee. 

10.2. Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, but are 
disclosed by way of a note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. 

Entities have paid but are not required to pay levies for construction projects performed on the land of the 
Commonwealth of Australia. At the time of adopting these financial statements, the Board is consulting with the 
Department of Treasury and Finance and the Crown Solicitor’s Office to determine how any refunds should be 
provided to these entities and properly authorised.   

10.3. COVID-19 pandemic outlook 

The COVID-19 pandemic will continue to impact the operations of the Board in 2020-21. The key possible 
impacts are: 

• potential reduction in levy revenue (dependent on level of government stimulus); 

• potential reduction in apprentices; and 

• potential reduction in attendance at construction skills training. 

None of these possible impacts have occurred in the period July to September 2020. 

10.4. Events after the reporting period 

There have been no events after the reporting period which would have a material effect on the Board’s financial 
statements at 30 June 2020. 

11. Measurement and risk 

11.1. Long service leave liability – measurement  

AASB 119 Employee Benefits contains the calculation methodology for long service leave liability.  
 
The actuarial assessment performed by the Department of Treasury and Finance has provided a basis for the 

measurement of long service leave and is based on actuarial assumptions on expected future salary and wage 
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. These assumptions are based on employee 
data over SA Government entities.  
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AASB 119 Employee Benefits requires the use of the yield on long-term Commonwealth Government bonds as 
the discount rate in the measurement of the long service leave liability. The yield on long-term Commonwealth 
Government bonds has decreased from 2019 (1.25%) to 2020 (0.75%). 
 

This decrease in the bond yield, which is used as the rate to discount future long service leave cash flows, 
results in an increase in the reported long service leave liability. 
 

The actuarial assessment performed by the Department of Treasury and Finance decreased the salary inflation 
rate from 4% (2019) to 2.5% (2020) for long service leave liability. 
 
The net financial effect of the changes to actuarial assumptions in the current financial year is a decrease in the 

long service leave liability of $18,467 and employee benefits expense of $6,072. The impact on future periods is 
impracticable to estimate as the long service leave liability is calculated using a number of demographical and 
financial assumptions – including the long-term discount rate.   

 
Current long service leave reflects the portion of leave expected to be settled within the next 12 months based 
on previous experience, expected terminations and known applications for leave. 

11.2. Fair value  

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, in the principal or most advantageous 

market, at the measurement date. 

IInniittiiaall  rreeccooggnniittiioonn  

Non-current tangible assets are initially recorded at cost or at the value of any liabilities assumed, plus any 

incidental cost involved with the acquisition.  

RReevvaalluuaattiioonn    

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value after allowing for accumulated 
depreciation.  
 
Non-current tangible assets are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. The Board 

capitalises all non-current assets with a value of one thousand dollars ($1,000) or more. 

PPrrooppeerrttyy,,  ppllaanntt  aanndd  eeqquuiippmmeenntt  

All items of plant and equipment owned by the Board had a fair value at the time of acquisition less than 
$1.5 million or had an estimated useful life that was less than three years. Plant and equipment has not been 
revalued in accordance with APS 116.D. The carrying value of these items are deemed to approximate fair value. 
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11.3. Financial instruments  

FFiinnaanncciiaall  rriisskk  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  

Risk management is managed by the Board and Board risk management policies are in accordance with the 

Board’s Risk Management Policy Statement. 
 
The Board is exposed to a variety of financial risks, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board has non-interest 
bearing assets (receivables) and liabilities (payables) and interest bearing assets (cash and cash equivalents and 

other financial assets). 
 
The Board has no significant concentration of credit risk. Investments are in the form of term deposits with 

approved banking institutions. In relation to liquidity/funding risk, the continued existence of the Board in its 
present form, is dependent on Government policy. 
 

Refer to notes 6 and 7 for further information. 
 
There are no fair value differences as carrying values approximate fair values and there is minimal exposure to 

interest rate or market risk due to the nature of the financial assets and liabilities held. 

CCaatteeggoorriissaattiioonn  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss  

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted include the criteria for recognition, the basis 

of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised with respect to each class of 
financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in the respective financial asset / financial 
liability note. 

CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  ooff  ffiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss    

The Board measures all financial instruments at amortised cost.  
 

      
  2020 2020 Contractual maturities 

 
Category of financial asset and 
financial liability 

 
Note 

Carrying 
Amount / Fair 

Value 

Within 1 
year 

1-5 years More than 
5 years 

 
 ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) ($’000) 

Financial assets  
  

  

Cash and cash equivalent 6.1   1,804  n/a n/a n/a 

Receivables (1) (2) 6.2 85 n/a n/a n/a 

Other financial assets 6.3   22,876  n/a n/a n/a 

Total financial assets  24,765    

      

Financial liabilities      

Payables (1) 7.1 1,774 1,774  - - 

Lease liabilities 7.2 596 78 455 63 

Provision for Training Claims 7.2 1,500 1,500  - - 

Total financial liabilities  3,870 3,352  455   63 
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  2019 2019 Contractual 
maturities 

 
Category of financial asset and 
financial liability 

 
Note 

Carrying 
Amount 

Within 1 year 

 
 ($’000) ($’000) 

Financial assets  
 

 

Cash and cash equivalent 6.1 2,010 2,010 

Receivables (1) (2) 6.2 151 151 

Other financial assets 6.3 22,519 22,519 

Total financial assets  24,680 24,680 

    

Financial liabilities    

Payables (1) 7.1 1,867  1,867  

Lease liabilities 7.2 -   -   

Provision for Training Claims 7.2 2,349  2,349  

Total financial liabilities  4,216 4,216 
 

(1) Receivable and payable amounts disclosed here exclude amounts relating to statutory receivables and 

payables. 
(2) Receivables amount disclosed here excludes prepayments. 
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Awards

Paul Knappstein
Master Plumbers Association of South Australia

Arthur Lynas
with Marie Paterson (former CITB CEO) 
TAPS (Trainee & Apprentice Placement Services

Connor Haines
GTE (Group Training Employment) with Rob Knightly & Laurie Judd (Employer MS Hein & Sons), 
Katja Gubbins (CITB), Damien Radley (GTE) 

Awards events postponed due to 
COVID-19:

• Maxima

• ATEC (Adelaide Training & 
Employment Group)

• CCF SA (Civil Contractors 
Foundation of South Australia)

• PEER
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Mitchell Tonks
HIA (Housing Industry Association) with Mark Gosden (CITB) 
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Appendix

Certificate II in Civil Construction

Certificate II in Construction (Steel Frame Installer)

Certificate III in Air-conditioning and Refrigeration*

Certificate III in Bricklaying/Blocklaying

Certificate III in Cabinet Making (Kitchens and Bathrooms)

Certificate III in Carpentry

Certificate III in Carpentry and Joinery

Certificate III in Civil Construction

Certificate III in Civil Construction (Plant Operations)

Certificate III in Concreting

Certificate III in Construction Waterproofing

Certificate III in Data & Voice Communications*

Certificate III in Demolition

Certificate III in Electrotechnology Electrician*

Certificate III in ESI - Power Systems - Distribution Overhead*

Certificate III in ESI - Power Systems - Transmission Overhead*

Certificate III in Fire Protection

Certificate III in Flooring Technology

Certificate III in Gas Fitting

Certificate III in Glass and Glazing

Certificate III in Joinery

Certificate III in Painting and Decorating

Certificate III in Plumbing

Certificate III in Rigging

Certificate III in Roof Plumbing

Certificate III in Roof Tiling

Certificate III in Scaffolding

Certificate III in Shopfitting

Certificate III in Solid Plastering

Certificate III in Steelfixing

Certificate III in Stonemasonry (Monumental/ Installation)

Certificate III in Wall & Ceiling Lining

Certificate III in Wall & Floor Tiling

Certificate IV in Building and Construction (Building)

Certificate IV in Building and Construction (Site Management)

Certificate IV in Civil Construction Operations

Certificate IV in Civil Construction Supervision

Qualifications funded by CITB during 2019-20
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